
WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013 

7:10 P.M. 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld called the meeting to order.  Councilors present were Mitchell, Sweeney, 

Anderson, Hildner, Kahle and Hyatt.  City Staff present were City Manager Stearns, City Clerk Lorang, 

City Attorney VanBuskirk, Planning and Building Director Taylor, Senior Planner Compton-Ring, 

Planner II Minnich, Public Works Director Wilson, Parks and Recreation Director Cozad and Fire Chief 

Kennelly.  Approximately 35 people were in attendance.   

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

 Mayor Muhlfeld asked Kellie Danielson to lead the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

3.  PRESENTATIONS – Presentation of Loss Control Award from our insurance provider for 

Lowest Incurred Dollars in the Liability Program for 2
nd

 Class Cities in Montana for FY13 (p. 

22) 

 

City Manager Stearns said the City received the loss control award for the lowest incurred 

dollars in the liability and worker’s compensation coverage programs for 2
nd

 Class cities in Montana.  

He said it means they do a good job controlling losses and have procedures in place for safe operations.  

Mayor Muhlfeld read the report from MMIA and noted that 2nd Class cities have between 5000-9,999 

residents. 

 

4. COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE PUBLIC–(This time is set aside for the public to comment on items that are 

either on the agenda, but not a public hearing or on items not on the agenda.   City officials do not respond during these comments, but 

may respond or follow-up later on the agenda or at another time.   The Mayor has the option of limiting such communications to three 

minutes depending on the number of citizens who want to comment and the length of the meeting agenda)    
 

 Jan Metzmaker, 915 Dakota Avenue, said they have had to put up an expensive, deer proof fence 

to protect their garden but the deer have knocked it down and have raised havoc in their yard.  She said 

there is an excess of deer in the area.  She thinks there is a better way to manage game and she asked 

them to consider talking to FWP to see if there is anything they can do about it. 

 

 Nancy Woodruff, on behalf of Glacier Climate Action, said they hosted the Chasing Ice movie at 

the O’Shaughnessy.  She said they wanted to ask the Council to write a letter regarding the coal export 

issue in Washington ports; she gave the Council a copy of a letter that the City of Livingston sent.  The 

Army Corps of Engineers has restricted their environmental analysis to Washington State and not looked 

at Idaho and Montana.  Livingston asked to be looked at during the analysis to look at possible noise and 

health hazards.  She said this could impact Whitefish in the future with increased coal traffic or re-routed 

train traffic from the other lines.  She included the email address on the back of the letter.  She said 

Glacier Climate Action would like to work with the City on developing a climate plan for Whitefish.  

They see their role as helping out any way they can—whether with a steering committee or helping with 

research.  If anyone on the Council would like to be a liaison on the committee they would appreciate 

that.  She said she went to a round table on climate change in Kalispell and Clint Muhlfeld, a fisheries 

biologist has data on climate change that has already occurred in the Flathead Valley river system.  



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 2 

Some of the changes include a shorter snowpack season, more mid-winter flooding, reduced summer 

stream flows, more wild fires, loss of habitat for native fish and increased hybridization of fish. 

 

 Michael Jamison, 44 Pine Avenue, said he works for the National Parks Conservation in town 

and said it is important that the City look at a climate plan that recognizes the need for climate control.  

He said the carbon that came from Henry Ford’s car is still up there now.  He said they can control some 

of the carbon footprint with zoning restrictions on where people build.  There is a conservation easement 

being worked on with the Stoltze Lumber and Land Co. and he hopes they can work on this.  He said he 

is building a house at 409 Geddes Avenue and it is complicated because it is on the river and has a 

stream running through it.  It is also home to brand new street construction.  He said the City was easy to 

work with and he wanted to be sure to announce that and thank them.  He said the contractors at RPA, 

Director Wilson and Director Taylor and staff were all excellent to work with.  He said LHC was not as 

easy to work with, but he’ll leave that there. 

 

 Cora Arnold, 659 Copperwood Court, spoke about the proposed median in front of Signature 

Plaza on Highway 93.  She asked for help with DOT and has worked with the Corridor Steering 

Committee.  She said the DOT is reconsidering the median in front of Signature Plaza.  She said she 

believes it is dangerous because there is the possibility of people making u-turns or entering traffic the 

wrong way.  She said the traffic on 3
rd

 Street/Park Hill is awful during construction and a median will 

make a major impact on that neighborhood.  The businesses in Signature Plaza anticipate at least 100 

cars coming in and out of their office complex each day.  She said Grouse Mountain and Mountainside 

are putting in gates because the traffic problem is so extreme.  She said the speed limit is going to be 35 

mph starting at Ramsey Avenue.  She said 35 mph was too fast with all of the turns people make on this 

stretch of the highway with Signature Plaza, the golf course and Grouse Mountain.  She also asked for a 

15 mph speed limit for the 3
rd

 Street/Park Hill neighbors.  She asked them to look at the Highway 93 

Steering Committee on the City website. Signature Plaza is the only business that is having their traffic 

flow impacted.  She asked the City to contact MDOT and to support the removal of the median. 

 

5. COMMUNICATIONS FROM VOLUNTEER BOARDS 

 

Jan Metzmaker, 915 Dakota Avenue, with the Whitefish Convention and Visitor’s Bureau, said 

she is retiring at the end of December.  She passed out the latest Travel Guide to the Council.  She said 

Amtrak offers a 20% discount from October to April for folks coming to Whitefish.  She thanked the 

Council for their support for the WCVB over the last seven years.  She said the budget went from 

$50,000 to $440,000 and it will probably increase because the winter stay count was up 29% and lots of 

new businesses have become members.  Mayor Muhlfeld thanked Jan, on behalf of the City, for all of 

her work. 

 

Councilor Hildner reported that the Weed Committee met on October 30 to review the weed 

Management Plan, suggest revisions and to look at the Weed Ordinance.  Jan Metzmaker, Committee 

Chair will consolidate the notes of the discussion and provide the committee with some draft changes.  

The committee probably won’t meet again until spring and they remain resolute in their desire to see 

spraying done in a timely fashion in the spring. 

 

He said the Bike/Ped Committee met and feel it is important for the council to make a timely 

commitment to the Skye Park Bridge so it can be coordinated with the work TD&H will be doing on the 

Birch Point lift station. He said the E. 2
nd

 Street program is coming along, but pedestrian traffic will be 

severely limited during road construction.  The Committee again recommends a stairway to connect the 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 3 

trail under Veteran’s Bridge with Miles Avenue.  This is a pedestrian way and not part of the bike path.  

The Committee also supports the purchase of a striping apparatus so that crosswalks and bike paths can 

be properly marked earlier rather than later in the season.   The next meeting is December 2
nd

 and the 

public is welcome. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld said he has reports on the AIS study from the Whitefish Lake Institute, but he 

will save it for the November meeting. 

 

6.  CONSENT AGENDA-(The consent agenda is a means of expediting routine matters that require the Council’s action. 

Debate does not typically occur on consent agenda items. Any member of the Council may remove any item for debate. Such items 

will typically be debated and acted upon prior to proceeding to the rest of the agenda. Ordinances require 4 votes for passage – 

Section 1-6-2 (E)(3) WCC) 
 

6a. Minutes from the October 21, 2013 Council regular session (p. 24) 

6b. Ordinance No. 13-07;  An Ordinance rezoning a parcel of land known as 6010 Highway 93 

S, approximately 5.766 acres, from County Suburban Agriculture and City Agriculture to 

Whitefish Country Residential  (2
nd

  Reading)   (p. 42) 

6c. Ordinance No. 13-08; An Ordinance rezoning a parcel of land known as 6200 Highway 93 

S, approximately 13.888 acres, from Whitefish Agriculture to Whitefish Estate Residential 

and Whitefish Secondary Business  (2
nd

 Reading)   (p. 44) 

6d. Ordinance No. 13-09; An Ordinance rezoning a parcel of land known as 320 Haugen 

Heights, approximately 35.359 acres, from Whitefish Country Residential to Whitefish 

Estate Residential  (2
nd

  Reading) (p. 46) 

 

Councilor Anderson offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Sweeney, to approve the 

consent agenda. The motion passed unanimously. 

 

7. PUBLIC HEARINGS (Items will be considered for action after public hearings) (Resolution No. 07-33 establishes a 30 minute 

time limit for applicant’s land use presentations.  Ordinances require 4 votes for passage – Section 1-6-2 (E)(3) WCC) 

 

7a. Application from Nick Fullerton Architects on behalf of 3013 Iron Horse Drive LLC for a 

Conditional Use Permit for a guest house at 3013 Iron Horse Drive, WCUP 13-13 (p. 49) 

 

Planner II Bailey Minnich reported that Nick Fullerton on behalf of 3013 Iron Horse Drive LLC 

is requesting approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a guest house at 3013 Iron Horse Drive.  

The property is currently developed with a single family home.  The property is zoned WCR/WPUD 

(Country Residential District with Planned Unit Development overlay).  The Whitefish Growth Policy 

designates this property as “Suburban Residential” which generally corresponds to the WCR, WSR and 

WER zoning districts.  Lower density residential areas at the periphery of the urban service area 

generally fall under this designation on the Future Land Use Map.  The property is approximately 1.043 

acres and is served by City sewer and a public water system. 

 

A notice was mailed to adjacent land owners within 150 feet of the subject parcel on September 27, 

2013.  A notice was mailed to advisory agencies on September 27, 2013.  A notice of the public hearing 

was published in the Whitefish Pilot on October 2, 2013.  No comments were received. 

 

The proposed use complies with Growth Policy Designation of Suburban Residential because it will 

be utilized as a single-family residence. The development proposal is consistent with the purpose and intent 

of the applicable regulations.  Section 11-3-12 of the Whitefish Zoning Regulations describes the 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 4 

requirements for a guest house and this project meets all the requirements.  The guest house is located on a 

lot that was approved through the subdivision review process, and complies with both the minimum lot size 

and lot width requirements.  The proposed guest house will be accessory to a single family home and 

adequate parking is being provided.  The zoning setbacks are being met with the submitted site plan.  

 

Planner Minnich noted that the retaining wall cannot exceed 4 feet high. Utilities will run down the 

driveway to the guest house; the main house will have separate utility services.  There are no anticipated 

neighborhood or traffic impacts.   Neighborhood capability is acceptable and this building will be used as 

an accessory guest house.  The proposal has been reviewed by the Iron Horse HOA. 

     

Planner Minnich said the Whitefish City-County Planning Board met on October 17, 2013 and 

considered the request.  Following the hearing, the Planning Board unanimously recommended approval 

of the above referenced conditional use permit with seven conditions.  On October 30
th

 the applicant 

contacted their office asking to strike Condition #4.  Staff is recommending that the condition be 

amended to state, “The applicant shall be required to obtain a building permit from the City for the guest 

house and the proposed retaining wall if the wall will be for more than landscaping purposes.”  She said 

the Building Department will review this during the building application process.  Staff recommended 

approval of the above referenced conditional use permit with seven conditions set forth in the staff 

report including tonight’s suggested amendment. 

 

Councilor Hildner asked and Planner Minnich said Iron Horse HOA did approve the guest house.  

Councilor Hildner asked and Planner Minnich clarified that this guest house cannot be rented out.  There 

will be a deed restriction on the property as stated in Condition #5.  Councilor Hildner asked how they 

enforce that and Planner Minnich said it would be a zoning violation.  Director Taylor said upon 

receiving a complaint from a neighbor, staff can move forward with an investigation and enforcement 

through the citation process. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld opened the public hearing. No one wished to speak and the public hearing was 

closed. 

 

Councilor Mitchell offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Sweeney, to approve a 

Conditional Use Permit on behalf of 3013 Iron Horse Drive LLC for a guest house at 3013 Iron Horse 

Drive, the staff report with seven (7) conditions, along with the staff recommended amendment to 

Condition #4.    The motion passed unanimously. 

 

7b. Application from Neil Stuber and Corrie Colbert on behalf of Hurraw! Balm for a 

Conditional Use Permit for an expanded home occupation permit at 625 Park Avenue, 

WCUP 13-11  (p. 77) 

 

Senior Planner Compton-Ring reported that Neil Stuber and Corrie Colbert, on behalf of 

Hurraw! Balm LLC, are requesting approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow an expanded home 

occupation at 625 Park Avenue.  The property is 0.333 acres and is currently developed with the 

Whitefish Independent High School.  The property is zoned WR-4 (High Density Multi-Family 

Residential District).  The Whitefish Growth Policy designates this property as “High Density 

Residential.”   The zoning regulations limit home occupation to no more than 25% of the gross floor area 

of the primary residence and limit employees to family members residing on the premises and one 

nonfamily member.  If one exceeds these thresholds, a Conditional Use Permit is required.  The 

applicant says the building will serve their needs over the long-term.  They currently have three part-



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 5 

time employees and are using 800 square feet of their existing home.  At the most, the applicant will use 

more than 25% of the building and potentially have up to 12 full-time equivalent employees.    As 

mentioned previously, the subject property is currently developed with the Whitefish Independent High 

School which has been in operation at this site since 1999.  There were several other nonresidential uses 

prior to the school.  The Growth Policy is silent on nonresidential uses in the High Density Residential land 

use; however, the WR-4 zoning does permit some nonresidential uses.  The Growth Policy does support a 

diversification of the economy that doesn’t solely rely on tourist dollars.  The Growth Policy also directs the 

City to ‘seek ways to diversify the local base economy with compatible businesses and industries such that 

the character and qualities of Whitefish are protected. 

 

Whitefish Zoning Regulations require two (2) parking spaces per dwelling unit and 1 space per 2 

employees, but not less than 1 space for every 800 s.f. of gross floor area.  This project would be required to 

have six (6) parking spaces and the property has 16 spaces.  The proposed plans provide adequate space to 

accommodate all parking needs on site.  Vehicles will continue to circulate as they do with the Independent 

School via E 7
th
 Street. The site plan has adequate open space.  Fencing and screening are not proposed, but 

are required by the zoning regulations when a parking lot or commercial use abuts residentially zoned 

property.  Planning Board recommend a landscaping buffer is installed along the north property line to 

buffer this use from the adjacent residential use. 

 

The building is served by city water and sewer.  At the previous Council meeting for their Dakota 

Avenue CUP, the Council directed Hurraw! to submit a list of products to determine whether there were 

any possible impacts to the city’s sewer system.  The documents were submitted to the Public Works 

Department on September 10
th
.  Staff has not received any comments from the Public Works Department 

on this matter with any concerns.  The building is in a neighborhood that is served by a public storm water 

system.  The Whitefish Fire Department serves the site and response times and access is adequate.  The 

proposed use is not expected to have significant impacts upon fire services.   No additional noise or 

vibration is anticipated to be generated from the proposed use.  No impact is anticipated with regards to 

dust, smoke, glare or heat, smoke, fumes, gas or odors. There are no proposed exterior changes to the 

building to accommodate the home occupation.       

 

The existing neighborhood is a mixture of single family, multi-family, schools, daycares, a nursing 

home and a church.  The proposed use is not expected to impact or change the character of the existing 

neighborhood.  The proposed use, while a departure from the current use as a school, is consistent with the 

zoning and uses allowed and in place.  The density is not out of character with the area.  The proposed 

home occupation will not be detrimental to the immediate neighborhood integrity as the traffic impact will 

be less than the existing school and would be less than a multi-family development.  This building has been 

in this neighborhood for over 60 years and the character of the building will remain unchanged. 

 

In their existing neighborhood, the applicant recently applied for an expanded home occupation, 

until a suitable location was found.  They have been in their current location for a number of years and the 

planning office has not fielded any complaints from neighbors concerning noise, odors, traffic or any other 

issues that may not be compatible with a residential neighborhood.  With the previous request, the city 

received a letter from a neighbor indicating what a great neighbor they have been and how their business 

has not had any deleterious effects on the neighborhood. 

 

A notice was mailed to adjacent land owners within 150-feet of the subject parcel on September 27, 

2013.  A notice was mailed to advisory agencies on September 27, 2013.  A notice of the public hearing 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 6 

was published in the Whitefish Pilot on October 2, 2013.  She said they received letters of support from 

Montana West Economic Development and the School District. 

 

The Whitefish City-County Planning Board met on October 17, 2013 and considered the request.  

Following the hearing, the Planning Board unanimously recommended approval of the above referenced 

conditional use permit with seven conditions.  The Planning Board also amended Condition of Approval 

#4 for Council consideration: 

 

4. A minimum of 600 250 square feet of the building shall be converted into a residential 

unit. for the owner or a current employee and shall be continuously occupied for the duration of the 

home occupation.   

 

Two members of the public spoke in support of the project at the Planning Board hearing.  The 

applicant spoke at the hearing and voiced his concerns with the requirement of the residential 

requirement.  While the applicant admitted it is an issue with the zoning regulations, they have a desire 

to utilize the entire structure for their business.  The Planning Board acknowledged the concern, but 

recognized that the zoning and the home occupation requirements require a residential component.  The 

Planning Board did recommend reducing the residential component to 250 square feet from 600 square 

feet.  Planner Compton-Ring reviewed the conditions for approval and said that staff is particularly 

concerned that a residential component is included to meet the home based business requirement. 

 

Councilor Mitchell asked if they are stretching this as a home based business in a residential area 

and Planner Compton-Ring said that is the only way to allow that use in a residential zone.  Councilor 

Mitchell asked why it was reduced to 250 square feet and she said it was at the applicant’s request.  

Councilor Kahle said the residential use has to have cooking facilities, a bedroom, and a bathroom.  

Councilor Sweeney said this building has never, ever been used as a residential facility.  He said they 

have never required any residential component for any of the previous uses. He doesn’t want to just put 

lipstick on a pig. Planner Compton-Ring said schools and churches are conditional uses in residential 

zones. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld said the Code limits employees to family members or they need a CUP.  

Councilor Hildner asked and Planner Compton-Ring said Condition #4 addressed their concerns about 

having someone reside on property.  She said that is what staff recommends but the Planning Board 

didn’t agree.  Councilor Sweeney asked if there was any other way to deal with this problem.  He said 

they could approve it on the basis of a 250 square foot requirement, but that’s not what is going on.  He 

said this is a viable use and he likes the idea.  He thinks they ought to have a better way to deal with this 

kind of exception.  Planner Compton-Ring said it would take a rezone and an amendment to the Growth 

Policy to rezone it to industrial, but that would be spot zoning.  She said if it had gone from the hospital 

directly to this use then it could work as changing from one non-conforming use to another non-

conforming use.  Unfortunately, that nonconforming status is long gone.  Councilor Mitchell asked 

about Condition #4 and wondered if someone had to live there all the time and Planner Compton-Ring 

said yes, they would.  Councilor Kahle asked the statute of limitations on a non-conforming use and it is 

180 days. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld opened the public hearing. 

 

Neil Stuber, 103 Dakota Avenue, said Planner Compton-Ring has been working hard on this and 

he agrees that is best to not just put lipstick on it.  He said they would see a tangible increase in costs to 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 7 

cover freight rates and insurance rates if they are not a commercial property.  He said the building feels 

like a proper industrial space, but the City’s hands are tied.  Councilor Mitchell asked and Stuber said it 

is an 8,000 square foot building.  He said they would have to invest in a separate kitchen, bathroom and 

entrance to accommodate the residential component.  Councilor Mitchell asked and Stuber said they 

don’t want to have someone living at their facility.  He said there would be an additional $10,000/year in 

expenses for not having a proper commercial space.  Councilor Hyatt asked what happened with the 

Baker Complex area.  Stuber said they looked at a 3,000 square foot space and wanted a modern, 

modular look, but the ARC didn’t approve of it, so the building revisions caused the new estimate to go 

up by $200,000 and the cost benefit wasn’t there.  He said the school is about $45-$50/square foot 

versus $140/square feet.  Councilor Hyatt asked what drove the costs up and Stuber said the initial bids 

were received in January, during off-peak, and the next estimates were in July so they were higher. 

 

John Ellis, 630 Somers Avenue, which is about a block and half from the property, said the 

Council wisely refused to approve the construction of a parking lot on Kalispell Avenue several years 

ago because it is a residential neighborhood.  He would like them to refuse this as well.  The applicant 

has admitted that this is not going to be occupied.  It is a WR-4 zone for residential uses.  Public 

buildings are allowed, but industrial buildings are not.  He said the Code allows for home occupations, 

but that is not what this will be.  Spot zoning is not legal.  The Code sets out specific criteria for this 

zone and they are trying to elude the zoning regulations.  It is unfortunate that this piece of property is 

owned by the School District because he supports the School District selling the property.  He thinks it 

should be developed as condos or apartments, in keeping with the residential nature of the block.  He 

said they need more residential space.  He said he wants this business to succeed, he hopes they can find 

a place in Whitefish, but he asked the Council not to allow an industrial business to be placed in a 

residential neighborhood. 

 

Jan Metzmaker, 915 Dakota Avenue, said she lives up the street from Neil and Corrie and their 

business is so quiet that she never noticed that it existed.  She said it would be less of an impact than 

having High School students coming in and out of there.  She hoped they would find a way to make this 

happen; it will help to create a diversified economy. 

 

Rhonda Fitzgerald, 412 Lupfer Avenue, said in the early 2000’s she was on the Whitefish 

Business Task Force and they addressed the problem of locally grown businesses who want to expand 

and have no where to grow.  This business will provide jobs.  The building was built as a medical clinic 

and could be used for light industrial use. 

 

Garth Boksich, 501 S. Karrow Estates, said he is the listing agent for the property. He said they 

have not gotten any interest for turning the property into residential uses, and only a few for turning the 

adjacent lot to multi-family use.  He said Neil Stuber explained to him that their business is like 

churning butter.  Right now the basement facility in the building is a pottery center and is more of an 

industrial use than it will be if Hurraw! owns it.  He thinks this request should be approved because there 

has never been a residential use there.  He said they have been approved for the same use in their home 

in another residential neighborhood.  He thinks it is a good use for that space. 

 

Nick Polumbus, 303 Stumptown Loop, said he is a member of the School Board and is favor of 

this project.  He said the School Board Trustees can’t think of a better way to utilize the property.  He is 

the Director of Marketing for the Mountain and serves on the Whitefish Visitor’s Bureau and said 

tourism is an important part of our community.  He thinks economic diversity if important and he would 

be patient in waiting for a solution. 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 8 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld closed the public hearing. 

 

Councilor Hyatt asked and City Attorney VanBuskirk said it could be problematic because it is 

not a good fit for this zoning.  The CUP criterion requires consistency with regulations and the 

regulations say there must be a residential component.  The applicant has stated there will be no 

residential use.  Councilor Kahle asked and Attorney VanBuskirk said the property must be used as a 

residence to be a home-based occupation.  Councilor Sweeney asked about amending the WR-4 zone to 

accommodate this limited type use.  Director Taylor said WR-4 allows some limited commercial uses, 

but the only type of uses it currently allows are things like art galleries and business offices.  If they 

added this use into the WR-4 it would be legal across all WR-4 districts.  He said if they rezoned the 

property it would be spot zoning.  The only other tool would be a conditional rezone, but that has a 

specific process and would also require them to look at spot zoning.   

 

Councilor Hildner said it is important that they know the CUP goes with the land so if this 

business ceased to be operational the conditional use remains.  Councilor Kahle asked and Director 

Taylor said conditional zoning was used on the Whitefish Motel.  They are a non-conforming use in a 

residential zone, adjacent to a WB-2 zone that allows motels.  They also allowed it on Baker Avenue 

with the old Master Plumbing building. Two zones were adjacent to each other. They would make this 

property a WR-4/industrial hybrid, but they are only adjacent to the WR-2 zone.  Director Taylor said it 

could have a finding that this building has never been residential. 

 

Councilor Mitchell asked and Neil Stuber said he is at work from 7 a.m. to midnight, but that is 

not full home occupation.  Stuber said he didn’t get a chance to talk about the conditional rezoning and 

they would be willing to talk with staff to see if it would work.  Councilor Mitchell said he talked to a 

neighbor who said they would like the business there; she said it would be better than a school.  He said 

it is hard to stretch this if they don’t have a home in with the business.  He is in support of business, so 

this is tough.  Councilor Kahle asked and Attorney VanBuskirk said the conditional zoning would not be 

blended to be light industrial.  She said they have two residential uses surrounding this property, so the 

Council doesn’t have the opportunity to have a light industrial result.  She said it was important to note 

that the building has been compliant with the zoning, even though it has not been residential.    

 

Councilor Kahle said he would like to see Hurraw! stay in Whitefish.  Manager Stearns said if 

they sent the applicant down this road for 90 days then they would end up with a report from the City 

Attorney that this is spot zoning.  Councilor Hyatt said he lives on Somers Avenue and he sees a change 

if they allow light industrial here.  He wishes they were doing something in Bakers Commons because 

that is where he thinks they belong.  Councilor Mitchell said if this is turned down the property can be 

turned into apartments and condos.  He would rather see the business here than apartments and condos.  

Councilor Hyatt said he isn’t worried about Hurraw! he is worried about the future.  If they let one 

person do this then they have to let everyone else. He is excited that Neil and Carrie want to do 

something in Whitefish.  Manager Stearns said they can pass the CUP as proposed by staff, or as 

modified by the Planning Board, with the conditions and then it falls in the hands of the applicants to 

comply.  

 

Councilor Hildner offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Hyatt, to deny a Conditional 

Use Permit on behalf of Hurraw! Balm for an expanded home occupation permit at 625 Park 

Avenue.   

 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 9 

Councilor Sweeny said he heard Neil Stuber say that the owner occupied residential use doesn’t 

pencil out for them.  They need it to be zoned for light-industrial use.  Councilor Mitchell asked and 

Director Taylor said the CUP goes with the property, not the business.  Councilor Hildner said he 

wished there was an option out there; everyone can see the conundrum.  Councilor Kahle said he 

admired what they are doing and he wished them the best of luck.  He hoped someone would hear this 

story tonight and come up with something that would work to keep them in Whitefish. 

 

 The motion to deny passed 4-1 with Councilor Sweeney voting in opposition and Councilor 

Anderson recusing himself. 

 

7c. Application from Digital Skylines representing Verizon Wireless for a Conditional Use 

Permit to replace an 80’ baseball field light with a new 80’ light pole holding both field 

lights and cellular wireless panel antennas as well as a 1375 sq ft fenced area enclosing the 

pole and a 12’ x 26’ equipment building at the ball field at Memorial Park owned by the 

City of Whitefish at the corner of E. 2nd St and Pine Avenue, WCUP 13-12 (p.  103) 

 

 Planning and Building Director Taylor reported that this is a request for a conditional use permit 

by Kevin Howell/Digital Skylines for Verizon Wireless for a Wireless Service Facility on property owned 

by the City of Whitefish at Memorial Park at the corner of E. 2
nd

 St and Pine Avenue.  The subject 

property is zoned WR-1 (Whitefish One-family Residential). The proposal is to replace an 80’ baseball 

field light with a new 80’ light pole holding both field lights and a cellular wireless panel antenna. There 

will also be a 1375 sq ft fenced area enclosing a 12’ x 26’ equipment building located approximately 

200’ to the east of the light pole tower along Fir Avenue with an underground line along the fence.  A 

Conditional Use Permit is required for wireless service facilities that are not collocated on an existing tower 

or attached to existing buildings in the WR-1 zoning designation. 

 

 Verizon has been looking to increase its capacity in Whitefish.  All of the cell phones have been 

doubling their capacity with the surge in smart phones.  They are looking to expand the outreach in 

downtown.  They looked into possible tower locations with BNSF, Central School and a location at 10
th
 and 

Baker, but none of those options worked.  Verizon approached the Memorial Park Glacier Twin baseball 

board.  Director Taylor said the regulations state that if they collocate on an existing tower they don’t need a 

CUP, but to put up a new tower then do need a CUP.  This tower will be 80 feet high and match the same 

height as the other light poles in the stadium.  This will not impact views and because it is part of an 

existing light pole it will be camouflaged.  No other cell company can collocate on the same pole, but they 

could perhaps use other light poles.  It meets all of the requirements in the Code for cell towers.  Through 

this process they have reviewed other cell companies and location choices as well as analyzing their 

capacity and the need for the new tower.  The security fence has to have landscaping to screen the 

equipment building.  

  

 Director Taylor said there are specific conditions for cell towers including the requirement for a 

non-glare surface.  He reviewed the other conditions for approval; no additional lighting, and a 5’ high 

fence around the equipment building with landscaping on all sides, except the side that adjoins the baseball 

field.  The equipment building has a 10’ side yard setback off a Fir Avenue and will be locked.  If 

abandoned for more than 80 days, there is a provision for removal.  A building permit is required to 

construct the tower.  It is an allowed use in the zone and doesn’t have any other impacts.  The landscaping 

required around the facility helps it blend in a little bit it should be a minimal impact on the neighborhood.  

There won’t be any lighting on the tower except the lights that currently exist.  One criterion is whether it 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 10 

will offer collocation. Verizon has said another provider could go on the pole but it would have to go 

underneath the Verizon equipment, which may not work for another company.   

 

 Director Taylor said they received two comments, one from a neighbor who had a couple of 

questions, and one from the owner of the property with a cell tower on Baker Avenue.  The Whitefish City-

County Planning Board met on October 17, 2013 and considered the request. Following the hearing, the 

Planning Board recommended unanimous approval of the above referenced conditional use permit with 

the eight conditions as contained in the staff report and adopted the staff report as findings of fact. The 

applicant spoke at the Planning Board hearing and answered questions from the Planning Board.  No 

one else from the public was present to speak on the issue.  He suggested that they ask the applicant 

about coverage north of Whitefish.  

 

Councilor Sweeney asked who pays for damage if a ball hits the cell tower equipment.  Director 

Taylor he said he imagines Verizon knows the risk of placing in there, but they could ask the applicant. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld opened the public hearing.   

 

Carol Moseley, 345 Fir Avenue, said she is directly across the street from the field.  She thought 

Jack Zerr donated the property to the City for a sport complex, not for a Verizon tower. It has been many 

different things over the 33 years she has lived here.  She questioned why they would want to put a 

Verizon tower there.  She said emissions are not healthy and they have 60-70% of the school kids in that 

area. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld closed the public hearing. 

 

Councilor Anderson offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Hyatt, to approve an 

application from Digital Skylines representing Verizon Wireless for a Conditional Use Permit to 

replace an 80’ baseball field light with a new 80’ light pole holding both field lights and cellular 

wireless panel antennas as well as a 1375 sq ft fenced area enclosing the pole and a 12’ x 26’ 

equipment building at the ball field at Memorial Park owned by the City of Whitefish at the 

corner of E. 2nd St and Pine Avenue subject to eight (8) conditions as included in the staff report.    

 

Councilor Anderson asked about Condition #1 on the non-reflective color.  He said right now the 

pole looks like the other poles.  He asked and Director Taylor said the antennae should be painted with 

non-reflective color and the poles should match the rest of the poles. Councilor Sweeney talked about 

the lease specifics.  Director Taylor said CUPs go with the land and the City is the one holding the CUP. 

Councilor Sweeney said he is fine with the CUP, but it is predicated on the fact that they have a ball 

field and lights there and he wondered about the Glacier Twin’s lease.  Director Taylor said the City will 

negotiate the terms of the lease.   Councilor Anderson said it is the City’s land and the City controls the 

lease. 

 

The motion passed unanimously. 

 

7d. Resolution No. ____; A Resolution indicating its intention to adopt amendments to the 

Whitefish Downtown Business District Master Plan as an amendment to the 2007 Whitefish 

City-County Master Plan (2007 Growth Policy)  (p. 138) 

 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 11 

Director Taylor reported that this application is a request by the City of Whitefish to amend and 

update the 2006 Downtown Whitefish Business District Master Plan as an amendment to the 2007 

Whitefish City-County Growth Policy.  This plan has been prepared for the City of Whitefish by 

consultants Crandall-Arambula from a contract prepared by the City Manager’s office at the request of 

the City Council. The original Downtown Master Plan, which was also completed by Crandall-

Arambula in conjunction with the City of Whitefish and the Heart of Whitefish, was adopted in April of 

2006.   This update effort was initiated in the fall of 2012. 

 

The study area encompasses the downtown core, including the BNSF rail yard and corridor 

commercial area to the north along Wisconsin, rail and residential area along Somers and Pine to the 

east, 6
th

 Street to the south, and the Whitefish River to the west. The plan is meant to be a guide for 

future downtown projects, zoning, and development. This plan works as a companion document to the 

2007 Whitefish City-County Growth Policy and area neighborhood plans. 

 

 To engage the public, the consultant hosted several meetings with staff and the public, including 

a public review of the existing plan and an open house where oral and written responses from the public 

were logged. 

 

NEW ELEMENTS 

Highlights of the proposed changes from the 2006 adopted Downtown Master Plan include: 

 A downtown ‘Retail Loop” that permits only retail uses that follows Central to First, then over to 

the Railway District on Lupfer, up to Third and back over to Central.  

 Expansion of commercial type uses south on Spokane Avenue 

 A recommendation for three major parking structures downtown 

 A ‘Downtown Living Room” concept that includes additional hard-scape for Depot Park 

 New park space in the Railway District 

 New City Hall at the current location at Second and Baker rather than near Depot Park 

 Elimination of the ‘Whitefish Landing’ waterway project near BNSF Railway Yard from original 

plan 

 Elimination of bicycle and pedestrian underpass below Baker Avenue near viaduct from original 

plan (this item is controversial and will be added back in by Crandall/Arambula) 

 A protected bikeway up Spokane and over to Wisconsin, including a leg going out East Second 

 Additional multi-family land use southwest of downtown and north of Railway 

 New proposed future streets south of the railroad 

 Additional future traffic signals at Second and Lupfer, First and Baker, and Third and Baker to 

calm traffic and facilitate pedestrian traffic 

 Improved ‘Gateways’ at three downtown entry points, including landscaping and signage 

 

IMPLEMENTATION ITEMS 

The Next Steps portion outlines several updates that need to be made to other regulatory documents and 

establishes priority development projects. These include: 

 Change the 2007 Growth Policy Future Land Use maps in the ‘Whitefish Landing” region 

northwest of the Railway District from Resort Residential to Urban.  . 

 Eventually changing the WI zoning south of the BNSF tracks to residential of some sort. 

 Amend zoning to require ground floor retail exclusively in the downtown loop (First to Central 

to Third to Lupfer) 

 Require zero lot line development in core 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 12 

 Amend ARC standards to require 70% transparent glass along ground floor facades on Central 

and parts of First and Third streets (see page 49) 

 Amend ARC standards to require 50% transparent glass along ground floor facades on fringe 

streets in the downtown core (see page 49) 

 Require parking access restricted frontages in the downtown core 

 Establishes City Hall and a Second and Baker Parking Structure as the Number 1 priority project 

 Establishes a parking garage at Second and Spokane as the Number 2 priority project (the 

rankings of these priorities should be reviewed and debated) 

 Establishes Baker Avenue streetscape and roadway improvements as the Number 3 priority 

 Establishes Depot Park hardscape improvements as the Number 4 priority 

 Establishes other projects as priorities such as Railway District and Central Avenue pedestrian 

street improvements, a Railway District anchor site, etc. 

 

He said they had a work session tonight before the Council meeting and Don Arambula was here 

to answer questions. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld opened the public hearing. 

 

Rhonda Fitzgerald, 412 Lupfer Avenue, said she hopes they will add public process to this 

before amending the Growth Policy.  She thinks there are details that need to be added and the public 

needs a chance for input. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld closed the public hearing. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld said there was a lot of information in the work session.  He said there was one 

public meeting at the O’Shaughnessy Center about 1 ½ years ago.  He said there was a public hearing at 

the Planning Board as well as the public hearing tonight, but he wondered if they wanted to keep the 

public hearing open.  Councilor Anderson said they could keep the public hearing open because no 

immediate move is necessary.  The rest of the Councilors agreed to keep the public hearing open. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld said he had a list of the concerns the Councilors raised in the work session that 

they would like Crandal/Arambula to address.  He said Councilor Hildner made a comment on how the 

update to the plan proposes hardscaping in Depot Park and that conflicts with the Depot Park Master 

Plan and they need to make that consistent.  Councilor Sweeney said the Parks Master Plan should 

dictate the direction of the amendments to the Master Plan.  It also amends the Growth Policy and they 

need more public input. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld said Councilor Hyatt made a comment about trying to incorporate a retail 

anchor in the Railway District area.  He said Don Arambula said the retail loop would help with that.  

Don Arambula said that side of town is designed to encourage uses that would draw local businesses 

that serve goods like an additional grocery store or hardware store.   

 

Mayor Muhlfeld said Councilor Hildner made a comment about Mountain View Manor and the 

50 affordable housing units there. He also asked for a connecting walk from Mountain View Manor east 

and to connect from Lupfer Avenue south to the footbridge. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld asked for a definition of a Master Plan priority.  There was concern that priority 

projects don’t mean they should be phased in.  There is not an implementation element for projects and 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 13 

costs and funding.  He said the 2007 plan led to funding of the Second Street improvements from a Tiger 

Grant.  He said this plan should be used in a similar way to solicit funding for some of these major 

improvement projects over time. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld said the Planning Board wanted to put the Baker Street underpass back in.  

There was discussion of the Riverside Park and whether it should be WR-4 or WR-2.  Councilor Hildner 

said if they are going to change the zoning it should probably be organic and come from the people there 

and come with a petition for a rezone. Councilor Mitchell said he didn’t think they discussed Don 

Arambula’s comments that they would create sprawl.  Don Arambula said one approach is to leave it as 

WR-4 and add development standards that keep new development compatible with the existing 

neighborhood.  Councilor Anderson said that is a topic that would be good for the public process.  He 

said some people want to live closer to town and public input would be important.  Don Arambula said 

they may need to show what neighborhood compatible retail possibilities would look like on Lupfer 

Avenue.  Mayor Muhlfeld asked if that could be handled with design standards and Don Arambula said 

it could.  Mayor Muhlfeld said they had schematics in their original downtown plan that set them up 

well for the Tiger grant.  He said he would like to work with MDT on the corridor improvements.  Don 

Arambula said they could add more detail to that idea. He said one of the questions is whether a 

protected bike trail could exist on Wisconsin Avenue.  Neighbors were concerned about losing trees.  

Arambula said they need better input from what MDT proposes for the road.   

 

Councilor Hyatt said they need to bring in some of the Transportation Master Plan elements so it 

is easily referenced.  Don Arambula said they talked about a signal at First and Baker Avenue and need 

more input.  Councilor Hyatt said they need more information on the couplet idea.  Don Arambula said 

they are adding back in the underpass idea to get people from the railway district to the downtown core 

without as much impact on the intersection on Railway and Baker Avenue.  Councilor Anderson said he 

appreciates the depth of Don Arambula’s experience and the context of the functionality of how it all 

works.  Don Arambula said he hopes they can bring back more information on the implementation of the 

plan.  Councilor Mitchell said he doesn’t like the idea that there will be four parking garages and the 

public would need to pay for the maintenance on them. Don Arambula said he appreciates that concern 

and although they have identified four sites the City won’t necessarily have to build four parking 

garages, but it is advised to have place holders for future parking needs. 

 

Councilor Kahle thanked Don Arambula and said his only concern with the plan is that they are 

heading to a pre-conceived idea of what the downtown is going to look like.  He is more of a free and 

independent guy.  They are saying it all has to be retail with a specific percentage of glazing on the main 

floor, and he doesn’t like the way it is going. He would like to see more public input as they start to 

adopt some of these changes.  He doesn’t want color palette requirements and a set look.  He likes the 

grittiness here and wants to see what the property owners want.  Arambula said they try not to be 

prescriptive, but want to regulate and be descriptive of what people want in the community.  They don’t 

want tall buildings and they want to preserve the authentic and historic character; but still not over-

regulating the private sector.   

 

Mayor Muhlfeld talked about the public outreach.  He said Crandall/Arambula did a lot of work 

for a reasonable cost.  He said they saw the value of getting the public comment.  He said he thinks they 

need to allow the City Manager to restructure the contract to have another public hearing.  Manager 

Stearns said there is only $5,000-$6,000 left in the contract and that will cover this trip.  If the Council 

wants to have another meeting or additional outreach it would take a new contract.  Don Arambula said 

he would suggest that they would give Manager Stearns a cost proposal and then the Council could 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 14 

review and approve it.  Don Arambula said he thought they could do the changes and hold a meeting by 

the end of the year.  Mayor Muhlfeld said the public hearing is open.  Don Arambula said maybe they 

should wait to have a public hearing in January so they hopefully get a better public showing. 

 

Councilor Hildner offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Sweeney, to continue the 

public hearing on a Resolution indicating its intention to adopt amendments to the Whitefish 

Downtown Business District Master Plan as an amendment to the 2007 Whitefish City-County 

Master Plan (2007 Growth Policy) until after a community information session in January and 

authorizing the City Manager to negotiate a new contract with Crandall-Arambula and bring it 

back to the Council for approval. The motion passed unanimously. 

 

 Mayor Muhlfeld called a recess from 9:20 pm to 9:28 pm. 

 

7e. Resolution No. 13-33; A Resolution indicating its intention to adopt a Whitefish Parks and 

Recreation Master Plan as an amendment to the 2007 Whitefish City-County Master Plan 

(2007 Growth Policy)  (p. 211) 

 

Director Taylor said this plan was prepared for the City of Whitefish by consultants Applied 

Communications and it will be an amendment to the Master Plan.  He turned the presentation over to 

Parks and Director Cozad who said about 1.5 years ago they contracted with Applied Communications 

to create a guiding document as the Recreation Master Plan.  He said they have had a number of public 

hearings and received substantial public input for the needs for now and into the future. The Planning 

Board unanimously recommended approval of the above referenced Growth Policy Amendment with 

staff recommended changes and several other minor corrections (see minutes) and adopted the 

supporting findings of fact in the staff report.  He thinks this document will serve the City well.  He said 

the biggest need is the acquisition of space.  He said the City has to have the foresight to acquire 

property for future generations.  He said in 20 years people will say they were wise to acquire property.  

He said the plan has gone through every sub committee they have in Parks and Recreation as well as 

special interest groups who use their facilities so it is well vetted. 

 

Councilor Mitchell asked about page 320 in the packet under comments regarding Depot Park.  

He asked what would happen to Farmer’s Market and community festivals in the future.  Director Cozad 

said in the past Depot Parks was an open book for special events and this year the Park Board limited the 

use of the facility.  Now the park is scheduled for about four major events in the summer, giving it 

downtime for grounds restorations.  Councilor Mitchell asked and Director Cozad said they haven’t 

heard any negative comments about the O’Shaughnessy Center access.  Manager Stearns said he thinks 

the O’Shaughnessy has just decided to clear out before the Farmer’s Market each Tuesday.  Councilor 

Kahle asked about Mountain Trails Park plan and Director Cozad said additional plans can be rolled into 

this document as updates. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld opened the public hearing.  No one wished to speak and the public hearing was 

closed.   

Councilor Kahle offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Hyatt, to approve a Resolution 

indicating its intention to adopt a Whitefish Parks and Recreation Master Plan as an amendment 

to the 2007 Whitefish City-County Master Plan (2007 Growth Policy). 

 

Councilor Mitchell said he thinks they need to address the traffic issue on Central Avenue during 

Farmer’s Market and festivals.  He said he can’t vote for that, even though he thinks most of it is a good 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 15 

plan.  Councilor Hyatt said he sits on the Park Board and he thinks the staff did a great job.  He said 

Applied Communications and Bruce Boody did a great job and it is not easy to pull something like this 

together.  He said the Parks and Recreation staff kept their offices open every Tuesday to get public 

input.  Councilor Hildner thanked Director Cozad and his staff and said it is an excellent plan. 

 

The motion passed 5-1 with Councilor Mitchell voting in opposition. 

 

7f. Resolution 13-34; A Resolution to approve a petition to the Montana Department of Fish, 

Wildlife & Parks to limit a portion of the Whitefish River to manually powered or electric 

motors only in order to protect public safety and provide resource protection in the 

riparian zone (p. 336) 

 

City Councilor Richard Hildner said after listening carefully to the public comment at the 

previous public hearing he met with Attorney VanBuskirk and talked to FWP.  The Resolution tonight is 

a major modification from the October 9, 2013 meeting.  He took the language from the FWP boating 

manual to come up with the term “manually powered or electric motors.”  He said there are 12 bodies of 

water in Montana that have this restriction.  He said this is just one step in the process and then it goes to 

FWP for consideration, study and hearings, then the Commission holds more public hearings and makes 

a decision.  He said his report describes the situation on the Whitefish River regarding resource 

protection and public safety.   

 

This Resolution is revised from the prior Resolution under consideration and would now allow 

small electric motor powered craft on the river.  Councilor Mitchell asked why he wouldn’t allow 

something with 3-5 horsepower motors.  Councilor Hildner said enforcement is easier if they are limited 

to electric motors.  He said this meets the concerns expressed by the public at the last public hearing 

about using electric motors.  Councilor Mitchell said some folks wanted to use small gas-powered 

motors.  Councilor Hildner said he doesn’t think they can address everyone’s concerns entirely.  He said 

under 12.1.1.4.0 the FWP says that management plans must not compromise long term conservation.  

Councilor Anderson thanked Councilor Hildner for his foresight in bringing this before them.  He would 

rather recommend low horsepower motors rather than just electric motors.  He also questioned going all 

the way down to Highway 40.  He would like to make the protected zone end at JP Road, which is 

where the no wake regulations currently end.  It would also resolve the comments from folks who 

occasionally use higher powered boats below JP Road. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld opened the public hearing. 

 

Michael Park, 1219 7
th

 Avenue West in Columbia Falls, said he attended the September meeting.  

He said he can’t hold an oar or a paddle due to a disability, so he uses an electric motor.  He appreciates 

that Councilor Hildner listened to his concerns.  He knows some people would like higher horsepower.  

He has a 30 thrust electric motor on his pontoon boat and he would appreciate being able to continue 

using the river. 

 

Leonard Howke, 180 JP Road, said they allow motorized boats from the mouth of the river to the 

railroad trestle. He asked and Councilor Hildner said no wake is allowed on that section of river.  Mr. 

Howke said they could leave it as no wake all the way down to JP Road.  He said if they can have 

motors and boats up there and he can’t then he feels discriminated against.  He doesn’t feel that is right.  

Mr. Howke said not all jet skis go fast and not all boats go fast. 

 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 16 

Mike Fitzgerald said he has been on the river for the last 36 years and about 15 years ago they 

tried a no-wake zone but it didn’t work.  They can’t control it.  He said a 5 horsepower engine can still 

stir up the river a lot.  They have seen how Whitefish Lake goes crazy in the summer.  It would be nice 

if there was a body of water where they could enjoy it without motorized vehicles.  He said they have 

seen a tremendous increase in boats zooming up the river and you can’t run a jet ski without wakes.  He 

said they tried helping the minority in the past who wanted to use their outboard engines, but they are 

seeing more and more people who abuse the river.  It would be nice if they didn’t have to put up with 

motorized traffic on the river. 

 

Mayor Muhlfeld closed the public hearing. 

 

Councilor Sweeney asked if the proposal requests that they change the regulation for non-

motorized vehicles from the mouth of the river all the way to JP Road.  Councilor Hildner said under 

this proposal they would ask FWP to consider a restriction from the trestle to Highway 40 to manual and 

electric motors only.  He said the no-wake regulation to the trestle would remain in place.  In 2007 the 

idea to eliminate motors was opposed by those who lived at the mouth of the river and wanted to get into 

the lake.  Councilor Mitchell asked Councilor Anderson to repeat what he had said earlier and Council 

Anderson said he would like to allow small horse power or electric motors.  Councilor Hildner said 

battery size is the issue for electric motors—it would take huge battery to get much speed for an electric 

motor.   

 

Michael Park said his is a 30 thrust electric motor and uses a battery similar to a riding lawn 

mower.  Councilor Kahle asked about enforcement and Councilor Hildner said FWP will be the 

enforcer, backed up by the City police.  He said it is the responsibility of the operator to know about the 

boating laws.  Councilor Kahle said he thinks they can achieve the objective of safety and protecting 

resources by limiting the horsepower.  They can all share the river as long as it is being respected.  He 

thought the proposal was too restrictive.  Councilor Hildner said one of the advantages for restricting it 

to electric motors is that you don’t hear them and you do hear internal combustion engines, so you know 

they are in violation.  He said it would simplify law enforcement.  Councilor Kahle said if the river is 

being treated with respect and there is no wake allowed, then that is adequate.  Councilor Mitchell said 

he would be willing to make it 5 horse power and stop it at JP Road, not Highway 40.   

 

Councilor Anderson said he would prefer to see this restriction from the trestle to JP Road and to 

allow low powered or electric motors.  Councilor Hyatt agreed with the trestle to JP Road since it is a 

zone that is already restricted and he is in favor of 5 HP or less combustion motors.  Mayor Muhlfeld 

asked if this ordinance would affect emergency response teams on the river.  Councilor Hildner said he 

expected them to be able to respond appropriately.  Mayor Muhlfeld said the Whitefish Lake Institute 

may need to use motorized boats for their research.  Councilor Hildner said he would guess it would be 

part of the FWP research and decision after they go through the public process.  Councilor Hyatt said the 

clean-up barges have to run high horse power as well. 

 

Councilor Hildner offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Anderson, to approve 

Resolution 13-34; A Resolution to approve a petition to the Montana Department of Fish, Wildlife 

& Parks to limit a portion of the Whitefish River to manually powered or electric motors only in 

order to protect public safety and provide resource protection in the riparian zone from the 

railroad trestle to JP Road.    

 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 17 

Councilor Mitchell asked about the exceptions and Councilor Anderson said this has no effect on 

law, it is just asking FWP to consider the request.   

 

Councilor Hyatt offered an amendment, seconded by Councilor Mitchell, to also allow up 

to 5 horsepower combustible engines. 
 

Councilor Sweeney asked if the concern was enforcement or the depth of the engine or 

turbulence.  Councilor Hildner said he believes it would facilitate enforcement and to protect the 

resource.  The electric motor won’t create a wake so they reduce stream bank erosion and 

contamination. 

 

The vote on the amendment was tied with Councilors Hyatt, Mitchell and Kahle voting in 

favor.  Councilors Sweeney, Anderson and Hildner voted in opposition.  Mayor Muhlfeld voted in 

opposition and the amendment failed. 

 

The vote on the original motion was tied with Councilors Sweeney, Anderson and Hildner 

voting in favor.  Councilors Hyatt, Mitchell and Kahle voted in opposition.  Mayor Muhlfeld voted 

in favor and the motion passed. 

 

8. COMMUNICATIONS FROM FIRE CHIEF 

 

8a. Contract award for Fire Water Tender apparatus  (p. 355) 

 

The Fire Department currently operates one (1) 2,500 gallon water tender. This unit was 

purchased in 1982 by the Whitefish Rural Fire Service Area and donated to the City. This vehicle has 

had been in front line service for 31 years.  
 

In March of this year, the Fire Department advertised for bids for the manufacture of a 3,000 

gallon tender. In addition to advertising, the bid specifications were mailed to the 8 major manufacturers 

of fire apparatus as listed in the packet. At that time only one manufacturer, Rosenbauer, chose to submit 

a proposal and price quote.  The $344,603 price quote was $69,603 above our projected cost of 

$275,000. At the May 20, 2013, City Council meeting the Council rejected this bid and authorized staff 

to revise the specifications and re-bid the tender. The approved FY14 budget includes a financial 

provision of $285,000 to replace this unit during FY14. 

 

During late September and early October, the Fire Department advertised for bids for 

manufacture of a 3,000 gallon tender based on the revised specifications compiled by staff. In addition 

to advertising, the bid specifications were again mailed to the 8 major manufacturers of fire apparatus). 

Two manufacturers, Danko Emergency Equipment Co. and Rosenbauer, chose to submit proposals and 

price quotes of $294,571 and $280,855, respectively. 

 

Both proposals were carefully compared with the published tender specifications. Rosenbauer’s 

proposal was found to be compliant in all aspects with the published specifications. Danko’s proposal 

has some deviations from the specifications, specifically, with the Peterbilt chassis.  In addition to the 

chassis differences, Danko’s proposal excludes significant pieces of loose equipment called for in the 

specifications.  These items will have to be purchased prior to placing the vehicle in-service; adding 

approximately $5,000 to the cost of Danko’s bid. 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 18 

Funds for this purchase were allocated in the FY13 budget and carried over into the FY 14 

proposed budget.  We are proposing the use of $70,000 cash towards the purchase with the remaining 

$210,885 to be financed over 7 years with a Montana Intercap Loan.  Utilizing the average annual 

Intercap Loan interest rate from 1987 to current of 4.411%, the annual payment will be $35,665.95. 

With an agreement between the City and the Whitefish Rural Fire Service Area board to split the cost, 

the resulting City annual payment will be $17,832.97 with the Whitefish Rural Fire Service Area 

contributing another $17,832.98.  Staff recommends approval. 

 

Councilor Hyatt offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Kahle, to approve entering into a 

contract to purchase one 3,000 gallon fire tender apparatus from Rosenbauer, LLC for a price not 

to exceed $280,855.00.   

 

Councilor Mitchell asked and Chief Kennelly said the money will come from their operating 

budget each year.   

 

The motion passed unanimously. 

 

9. COMMUNICATIONS FROM PLANNING AND BUILDING DIRECTOR 

 

9a. Consideration of application from Whitefish Credit Union, on behalf of Lookout Ridge 

Investors, LLC, for a two year extension of the Lookout Ridge Preliminary Plat  (p. 360) 

 

Planner Compton-Ring reported that Taylor Horst of the Whitefish Credit Union on behalf of 

Lookout Ridge Investors llc has requested a 2-year extension to the Lookout Ridge preliminary plat.  

Lookout Ridge is a 139 units on 267.7 acres located north of Iron Horse and Ptarmigan off the Big 

Mountain Road.  Attached to this report are the conditions of approval and a preliminary plat map.  The 

preliminary plat was approved by the Whitefish City Council on June 18, 2007.  On May 5, 2008, the 

Council approved an amended preliminary plat to add nearly 40 acres to the subdivision.  On June 21, 

2010, the Council granted a second amendment to the preliminary plat in order to place 16 cabins on 

individual lots, as they had previously been located within a common lot.   

 

Staff summarized the standard of review for granting an extension.  The Council reviewed the 

request for a two-year extension on June 17, 2013. At that meeting the Council only granted a six month 

extension, but asked the Credit Union and/or developer to return to address the landslide area that 

occurred in June 2011.  It appears from the minutes that there was also an expectation that the property 

ownership issue between the Credit Union and the developer would be resolved in order for remediation 

of the landslide area to occur. 

 

The Council’s packet includes a report from Roger Noble of Applied Water Consulting llc 

addressing the cause of the landslide.  Mr. Noble attributes the landslide to saturated soils associated 

with a wetland complex that was triggered due to an intense rainfall event that accelerated snowmelt 

runoff volumes and not due to the installation of infrastructure.  In addition, please find a letter of 

support for the extension from Bruce Boody of Bruce Boody Landscape Architects.  Mr. Boody also 

points out some of the community benefits for the project – public trails, public parking to access the 

trails and a $50,000/year over 10-years to the Whitefish Housing Authority.   A report completed by 

Tom Cowan of Carver Engineering was also included in the Council packet. 

 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 19 

The ownership issue between the Credit Union and the developer is still unresolved.  The Credit 

Union is acting on behalf of the developer for the extension request and they are working to obtain an 

Addendum to the agreement with the Lookout Ridge developer in order to protect their collateral, 

including the improvements; the Credit Union still is not the owner of the property.  The attorney for 

LRI was out of town until today so this has not been resolved yet.  Most of the liens have been cleared.  

 

 Even though the Whitefish Credit Union is not the current property owner, they are continuing, 

in good faith, to working toward final plat by: 

 Working with creditors and various lien holders;  

 Establishing securing party priorities; 

 Installing gates to limit access to the property from trespassers and vandals; 

 Removing litter from trespassers; 

 Coordinating ownership on roadways around Lookout Ridge; and 

 Hiring Roger Noble of Applied Water Consulting to review the landslide area.     

 

 On page 395 there is a map showing who is responsible for which section of the Lookout Road.   

 

While the Credit Union is looking to obtain permission from the developer to be the local contact 

and provide some minor improvements, the major work will be done by some future property owner.      

 

The plat now expires on December 21, 2013.  Staff recommends Council approve the remainder 

of the 24-month extension for an additional 18-months until June 21, 2015. 

 

Councilor Kahle asked and Planner Compton-Ring said no work has taken place in quite a long 

time.  She said they must go to final plat in order to avoid the plat expiring.  Councilor Hildner said 

when the slide occurred in 2011 the material came across the lower Lookout Ridge Road. He asked and 

Public Works Director Wilson said that portion of the road was the responsibility of Lookout Ridge and 

the blue section of the road is the City’s responsibility.  Director Wilson said they opened the road 

because the developer didn’t have any means to open the road.  He said Iron Horse came along and did 

more clean up on the area that is their property.  Councilor Hildner asked what has been done to stabilize 

and re-vegetate the slope that slumped.  Director Wilson said Iron Horse did some work on their own 

area, but he was not aware than anything happened in Lookout Ridge.  Councilor Anderson said if this is 

denied can the applicant re-apply before the end of the year or should the Council offer a motion to 

reconsider.   

 

Attorney VanBuskirk said she didn’t see any reason the applicant couldn’t re-apply.   Councilor 

Anderson said whoever owns the property needs to make sure the slide area is rectified. Planner 

Compton-Ring said the Credit Union is working to clear all the liens and they have made some 

improvements to the property, but they aren’t the owners yet.  Councilor Anderson said there has to be 

an agreement between two parties.  He said they can reapply before the end of the year.  Director Wilson 

said people are focused on the slide, but that action is over.  He said the road may be at some risk above 

the slide.  Councilor Anderson said all he hears is good intentions, but the Credit Union isn’t stepping 

up.  He said nothing has changed in six months. 

 

Attorney VanBuskirk said the attorney for the developer has been on vacation.  The Credit Union 

thought they’d have something in hand by this meeting, but she thought they should continue this to 

their next meeting.  Councilor Hyatt said this is a legal scenario and he feels the Whitefish Credit Union 

has been doing everything they can to clean it up.  He would be in favor of continuing this to the next 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 20 

meeting.  Councilor Anderson said he isn’t saying they aren’t trying, but the Whitefish Credit Union 

hasn’t come before them.  Councilor Hildner said he has had concerns about this subdivision and he 

hasn’t seen the information on the other lien-holders or the subdivision owner.  He noted a conflict 

between Mr. Noble’s and Mr. Carver’s reports about what caused the slide.  He said for an extension the 

developer must be moving forward to complete the plat and there is no developer.  He is not opposed to 

holding this over, but he also is frustrated that no one from either side is here to represent their interests. 

 
Councilor Mitchell offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Anderson, to continue to the 

Lookout Ridge request for an extension to November 18, 2013.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 

10. COMMUNICATIONS FROM PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 

 

10a. Resolution No. _____; A Resolution establishing "No Parking" Zones on portions of West 

Sixth Street and O'Brien Avenue (areas within 6
th

 and Geddes project reconstruction area) 

(p. 398) 

 

Public Works Director Wilson said that following the recent completion of the 6
th

 and Geddes 

Street Reconstruction Project, the Public Works Department is recommending the City Council 

officially designate No Parking zones along certain portions of 6
th

 Street and O’Brien Avenue, as shown 

on the drawing included in the packet.  The route connecting Baker Avenue with West 2
nd

 Street 

(running along West 6
th

 Street, O’Brien Avenue, Flint Avenue, North Street, Geddes Avenue, Jennings 

Avenue, West 3
rd

 Street and Good Avenue) was recently reconstructed.  The public right of way is 

narrow all along this route and the new roadway includes curb and gutter where there was none before.  

As a result, in some locations where folks may have parked their car on the edge of someone’s front 

lawn, the roadway is no longer wide enough to accommodate on-street parking.   

 

Although other road segments along this route may benefit from parking restrictions in the 

future, we are recommending the following areas be designated as No Parking zones at this time: 

 The north side of West Sixth Street from a point 150 west of Lupfer Avenue to Flint  

  Avenue, 

 The south side of West Sixth Street from Lupfer Avenue to Flint Avenue and 

 Both sides of O’Brien Avenue between 265 West Sixth Street and 310 West Sixth Street,  

  a distance of approximately 160 feet. 

The recommended No Parking zones will help ensure the safe passage for traffic and emergency 

vehicles and will enable snow removal in a more efficient and effective manner. The cost to install the 

necessary No Parking signs along this portion of 6
th

 Street and O’Brien Avenue is approximately $500.  

The work would be performed by the Public Works crews and the cost would be paid out of the Street 

Fund. 

 

Councilor Mitchell asked if the neighbors have been notified and Director Wilson said they have 

not.  Councilor Anderson asked if this is temporary and Director Wilson said they are suggesting that it 

will be permanent.  He said there is a narrow right-of-way and when they installed curb and gutter to 

handle run-off, it made the road narrow.  Mayor Muhlfeld asked about the lots just above 6
th

 Street 

where the road bows out and Director Wilson said that is proposed for on-street parking.  Mayor 

Muhlfeld asked about Flint Avenue and Director Wilson said that is not included in this request because 

they are not seeing anyone park there.  Councilor Hildner agreed that Flint Avenue is steep and maybe 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 21 

they should make it no-parking, too, in the future.  Councilor Kahle asked about notifying the public.  

He would like to hear from the neighbors.  Director Wilson said he would notify the neighbors.  Mayor 

Muhlfeld said they would be hard pressed to get an emergency vehicle through there.  Councilor Hyatt 

agreed that they need restrictions.  Chief Kennelly said they cannot get their fire truck down that road so 

it is a public safety issue at this time.  Councilor Anderson wondered if this was public safety driven. 

 

Councilor Mitchell offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Hyatt to continue the request 

for a resolution establishing "No Parking" Zones on portions of West Sixth Street and O'Brien 

Avenue (areas within 6
th

 and Geddes project reconstruction area) to the next meeting so the City 

can send out a letter to the people affected. 

 

Councilor Mitchell said they need to respect the taxpayers and notify them. 

 

The motion passed unanimously. 

 

10b. Consideration of awarding an engineering consulting contract for the design of 2014 

Water Infrastructure Improvements Project - water distribution lines (p. 405) 

 

Director Wilson said Public Works Department advertised a Request for Statements of 

Qualifications for the 2014 Water Infrastructure Improvements Project and received six responses.  Staff 

interviewed and ranked the three finalists.  This memo is to recommend the City Council award a Phase 

I consultant contract to WGM Group. 

 

The project will involve design and construction of approximately 3500 feet of water main 

replacement and full-width street repaving along: 

 Somers Avenue, between 2
nd

 Street and 8
th

 Street, and 

 Central Avenue from 3
rd

 Street to a point south of 5th Street. 

   

In addition to the water main improvements, the need for roadway and drainage improvements is 

a substantial driver for the work on Somers and Central Avenue.  The project will also include design 

and construction to replace a broken water main suspended from the Columbia Avenue bridge. 

 

The scope of work under the proposed Phase I consultant design contract will include surveying 

and preliminary engineering design for water distribution, pavement, and drainage improvements.  

Services for final engineering design, contract documents, bidding services and construction 

management would be the subject to an addendum to be negotiated with the results of preliminary 

design in hand.  Staff has negotiated a scope of work for survey and preliminary engineering in an 

amount not to exceed $40,626.  Staff will return to the City Council during the winter to add tasks and 

fees for final design and related work by addendum. Councilor Mitchell asked and Director Wilson said 

WGM has been the design team for several projects in Whitefish 

 

Councilor Mitchell offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Kahle, to award a Phase I 

consultant contract to WGM Group for survey and preliminary engineering design on the 2014 

Water Infrastructure Improvements Project in an amount not to exceed $40,626.  The motion 

passed unanimously. 

 

10c. Consideration of awarding an engineering consulting contract for the Birch Point and 

Miller (City Beach area) wastewater lift stations (p. 408) 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 22 

 

Director Wilson said the Public Works Department advertised a Request for Statements of 

Qualifications for the Birch Point and Miller Lift Station Project (by City Beach) and received six 

responses.  Staff interviewed and ranked the three finalists.  This memo is to recommend the City 

Council award a consultant contract to TD&H Engineering. 

 

The project goal is to replace the existing sewage pump station located at the east end of Birch 

Point Drive and install new auxiliary power generators at the Birch Point sewage pump station and the 

Miller (City Beach) sewage pump station, located north of Skyles Place and immediately east of the City 

Beach Park.  Staff also needs to improve access for maintenance vehicles at the Miller lift station. 

 

The scope of work will include overall project management, surveying, engineering analysis and 

design, bidding services, construction management and coordination with private utility companies.  The 

Birch Point lift station sits at the edge of Skye Park.   TD&H is our design engineer for the Skye Park 

Bridge project.  Their involvement with both jobs will enable close coordination and efficiencies in 

construction management, as well as possible task sharing between the two construction projects.  Staff 

has negotiated a scope of work for engineering design, preparation of construction contract documents 

and bidding services in an amount not to exceed $37,800.  We will determine the needs for construction 

management services after the final design is complete and return to the City Council in the spring with 

a recommendation to add these services by amendment. 

 

Councilor Kahle offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Anderson, to award a consultant 

contract to TD&H Engineering for engineering design and related services on the Birch Point and 

Miller Lift Station Project in an amount not to exceed $37,800.   

 

Councilor Hildner said they need to move forward on Skye Park Bridge in order to get the best 

value out of the project.   

 

The motion passed unanimously. 

 

11.  COMMUNICATIONS FROM CITY MANAGER  

 

11a. Written report enclosed with the packet.  Questions from Mayor or Council?  (p. 411) 

 

 Councilor Hyatt said he loved the picture of all the new equipment in Soroptimist Park. 

 

11b. Other items arising between October 30
th

 
and

 November 4
th

  

 

Manager Stearns said tomorrow is the last chance to vote.  He said he notified the Council that 

they offered the position for Assistant City Manager/Finance Director to Corey Swisher from Basehor, 

KS.  They are hoping he can start in December. 

 

12.  COMMUNICATIONS FROM MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

 

12a. Standing budget item - None. 

12b. Letter from Kevin McCready regarding police enforcement of complaints   (p. 417)   

 

Mayor Muhlfeld said they will wait until Chief Dial is here. 



WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

November 4, 2013   

 23 

12c. Letter from Deborah Mallams regarding MDT plans for a median on Hwy 93 North by      

Signature Plaza  (p. 421) 

 

Councilor Anderson said he thought it would be appropriate to send a follow-up letter to MDOT 

to encourage them to re-think this median issue.  The other councilors agreed and Director Wilson said 

he would send the letter. 

 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 

Councilor Mitchell asked and Manager Stearns said the City overcharged the school.  Manager 

Stearns said that Public Works discovered that the square footage figure was the total of the whole High 

School and the City reimbursed them $42,000 off their impact fees.  Councilor Mitchell said he still has 

concerns about the school project, but they need to take responsibility for this.  He apologized to the 

public for how this was done incorrectly.  He is glad that it will help the school.  He said the Highway 

93 West project is moving along and getting cleaned up and he is grateful.  He was concerned about 

LHC and he was glad that they have done a good job.   

 

Councilor Kahle asked if there would be downstream impacts that would be figured out by the 

square footage reduction.  Manager Stearns said Sheri Baccaro said they might have under billed some 

prior projects.  Director Wilson said the High School has been a unique project because it is happening 

in 3 phases.  Councilor Sweeney said they were impact fees. 

 

Councilor Hildner said there is a pile of concrete next to the Caldwell Banker building after the 

new concrete sidewalk was poured.  Director Wilson said he can ask MDOT to look into it. 

 

Councilor Hildner said folks from Mountain View Manor asked for a stop sign at the corner of 

4
th

 Street and O’Brien.  Director Wilson said it won’t meet warrants based on the low traffic count there. 

 

 Mayor Muhlfeld said he has been talking with Bill Blake from the Salvation Army who wants to 

have a friendly competition between Columbia Falls, Whitefish and Kalispell.  The Salvation Army 

reinvests their funds into the valley and provides over 300,000 meals and showers and holiday gifts.  

The competition will be on December 19
th

 from 9-5 p.m. and he asked the others to let him know if they 

could help ring the bell at the kettle for any portion of that day. 

 

13.  ADJOURNMENT (Resolution 08-10 establishes 11:00 p.m. as end of meeting unless extended to 11:30 by majority) 

 

  Mayor Muhlfeld adjourned the meeting at 10:55 p.m. 

 

 

         ____________________________ 

         Mayor Muhlfeld 

 

_____________________________________ 

Jane Latus Emmert, Recording Secretary 

Attest: 

 

______________________________________ 

Necile Lorang, City Clerk 


